

— with Impact

IN THE AGE OF COVID-19 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

About ICES

Population-based health research that makes a difference

ICES leads cutting-edge studies that evaluate health care delivery and population outcomes. ICES researchers access a vast and secure array of Ontario's demographic and health-related data, including population-based health surveys, anonymous patient records, as well as clinical and administrative databases. ICES is recognized as an international leader in maintaining the privacy and security of personal health information.

World-class research teams

ICES is a community of research, data and clinical experts. Many ICES scientists are internationally recognized, and a number are practicing clinicians who understand the everyday challenges of health care delivery. They lead multidisciplinary teams that include expert statisticians and epidemiologists, as well as specialists in knowledge translation, information security and information technology. The diversity within these teams and their expertise at using ICES' outstanding array of linked data sets is the foundation of the innovative approach to research at ICES.

Our impact

ICES research results in an evidence base that is published as atlases, investigative reports and peer-reviewed papers, and is used to guide decisionmaking and inform changes in health care policy and delivery. Many ICES reports are undertaken to answer specific questions (known as Applied Health Research Questions) posed by health system stakeholders and policy makers. ICES research influences the design, implementation and evaluation of health policy and the delivery of health care. ICES atlases and reports are highly regarded in Canada and abroad.

Independence

As an independent not-for-profit corporation, ICES takes pride in its international reputation as a trusted, impartial and credible source of high-quality health and health services research and evidence. ICES receives core funding from the Ontario Ministry of Health. ICES scientists and staff have highly successful track records competing for peer-reviewed grants from federal agencies, such as the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, and from provincial and international funding bodies.

A collaborative network across Ontario

ICES Central is located on the campus of Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre in Toronto. It supports physical sites at Queen's University in Kingston (ICES Queen's), the University of Ottawa (ICES uOttawa), the University of Toronto (ICES UofT), Western University in London (ICES Western), McMaster University in Hamilton (ICES McMaster), and the Health Sciences North Research Institute in Sudbury in partnership with Laurentian University and the Northern Ontario School of Medicine (ICES North).

Contents

LETTER FROM THE CEO	4
BOARD OF DIRECTORS	6
2020/21 YEAR IN NUMBERS	7
EVIDENCE WITH IMPACT	9
Near-real-time data changed the way COVID-19 vaccines were allocated and reported on across Ontario	10
The impact of COVID-19 on Ontario's health care system	12
Immigrants and refugees have been disproportionately affected by COVID-19 in Ontario	14
How a data-driven approach helped protect people experiencing homelessness in Ontario	16
FINANCIAL REPORT	18
Statement of Financial Position	19
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances	20
Statement of Cash Flows	21



Letter from the CEO

Annual reports are an opportunity for organizations to share performance information and highlight achievements of the previous year. I believe they are also an important opportunity to look forward. Since early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has dominated the news, work and personal lives of Ontarians. This was also true at ICES. Over the past year, we continued to provide almost real-time COVID-19 testing and vaccination reports, in addition to conducting investigator-led research and analytics in support of the pandemic response as a key partner of the Ontario Health Data Platform. ICES scientists also offered critical insights and expertise to decisionmakers provincially and nationally. This timely evidence was shared with and used by the Ontario and Federal governments, the health system and public health units. Whether reported at the provincial level or by neighbourhood, ICES data and evidence continued to improve the COVID-19 response and the health outcomes of Ontarians.

ICES also worked hard to ensure our staff and scientists remained safe and healthy. With incredible flexibility and collaboration, the ICES network transitioned to working from home as a tool for physical distancing. We evolved our IT infrastructure to enable seamless digital collaboration among the ICES community and critical data-security enhancements were introduced, including the strengthening of our cybersecurity team.

With the full support of the ICES Board of Directors, ICES embarked on year one of the 2020–2023 strategic plan. We successfully grew our knowledge transfer program and expanded our public engagement program, including beginning the work and consultations needed to reflect on the use of race, ethnicity and immigration data in ICES research and analytics. We consulted with members of the public who identify as racialized to understand their priorities and values regarding how these data are used and interpreted, thus ensuring their views will guide our work.



Dr. Michael Schull CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER Despite pivoting our operations due to COVID-19, ICES continued to focus on other key areas, including the Applied Research Health Question program and partnerships. Hundreds of abstracts and academic papers were published, exploring areas such as mental health, public health, cancer and cardiovascular health, to name a few; indeed, researchers across all seven ICES sites published a record 732 peer-reviewed publications in 2020/21. Many of these studies provided evidence for policy makers as they develop new approaches to address the evolving needs of Ontarians. We gratefully acknowledge our many funders, including the Ontario Ministry of Health, the Ontario SPOR Support Unit and Canadian Institutes of Health Research in supporting this important work.

In the midst of the response to the pandemic came the shocking discovery of the unmarked graves of hundreds of Indigenous children on the grounds of a former residential schools. While this was well known to Indigenous communities and had been documented in the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's report, the news filled many Canadians, and many in the ICES community, with shock and sadness. Like millions of other Canadians, we came together as a community on September 30, 2021, the first National Day for Truth and Reconciliation, to listen, learn and reflect on the history and legacy of residential schools. This past year saw many examples of ICES' efforts to support Indigenous data Sovereignty and Indigenous-driven use of ICES data. Through our dedicated staff and scientists in the Indigenous Portfolio, ICES is proud to support Truth and Reconciliation Call to Action #19: identifying and closing the gaps in health outcomes between Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities, by enabling and facilitating Indigenous-led health research.

I am inspired by the First Nations, Métis and Inuit organizations we work with, as well as First Nations communities that approached ICES to help answer health questions in their communities. ICES staff and scientists worked tirelessly this past year as partners to answer a record number of Indigenous-led analytic projects, ensuring the results were addressing the priorities and concerns of Indigenous communities and organizations. This work is a key part of working toward our vision of improved health and health care for everyone through world-leading research and analytics.

I always say ICES is a community and it is one I am truly grateful for. It includes dedicated members of the Board of Directors, Scientific Advisory Committee and Public Advisory Council, as well as scientists, staff, students, partners and stakeholders. Our shared commitment to translate data into trusted evidence that makes policy and health care better and people healthier is unwavering, even in the face of a pandemic. Our values continue to inspire our work today, which gives me great confidence that we will have even greater impact tomorrow.

Dr. Michael Schull

Chief Executive Officer

Board of Directors

April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021

Chair

Mr. Matthew Anderson¹ President and CEO, Ontario Health

Dr. Kevin Smith² President and CEO, University Health Network Directors

Ms. Jane Badets³ Former Assistant Chief Statistician, Statistics Canada

Mr. Dev Chopra Principal, CJEM Advisory Services Inc.

Dr. Mark Daley VP Research, CIFAR

Ms. Laura Formusa¹ Former President and CEO, Hydro One Inc.

Ms. Bella Martin Former General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer, University Health Network

Mr. Geoffrey Rowan Independent communication consultant

Dr. Roger Strasser Professor of Rural Health, University of Waikato; Founding Dean Emeritus, Northern Ontario School of Medicine

Dr. Saria Verma³ Dean, President and CEO, Northern Ontario School of Medicine

Ms. Kathy Watts¹ Former VP Finance and CFO, Hamilton Health Sciences

¹Retired from Board in June 2020 ²Appointed Chair in June 2020 ³Joined Board in June 2020

Year in Numbers

2020/21



572 scientists and staff (5% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

277 scientists (5% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

295 staff (5% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

43% of scientists work from sites other than ICES Central

graduate, medical and post-graduate trainees

38%

of research staff work from sites other than ICES Central

> 274 graduate students accessing ICES data

sites across Ontario

research programs

108

data holdings

298

new data sharing agreements and amendments

37%

overall grant success rate on 252 grant submissions

primary data collection studies

involving 15 hospitals

44% of grant submissions were on COVID-19-related topics

YEAR IN NUMBERS

mentored by ICES scientists

697

Year in Numbers

2020/21



Knowledge Translation

26%

increase in visits to the ICES website (15% OF VISITORS FROM OUTSIDE OF CANADA)

265 media hits per month on average

(3,184 TOTAL)

15,048 Twitter followers

(13% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

827 participants at ICES' 2021 Winter Forum

48 infographics produced to disseminate key research findings

> 400+ presentations by ICES scientists, trainees and staff

*An AHRQ is a question posed by a health system policymaker or provider – a knowledge user – to obtain research evidence that informs planning, policy or program development that will benefit the entire Ontario health system.

51%

had at least one student or trainee as a co-author

53

new Applied Health Research Question (AHRQ)* requests from 42 unique knowledge users: exceeds annual target of 25 set by the MOH

ad at least one stud

of ICES scientists engaged the public in their work

26%

150 public and private ICES Data & Ana

419

public and private sector requests to ICES Data & Analytic Services (DAS) — exceeds annual target of 40 set by the OSSU

new investigator-initiated projects

(1% DECREASE FROM 2019/20)

1,250

peer-reviewed publications

(7% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

(1% INCREASE FROM 2019/20)

732

ongoing investigator-initiated projects

Evidence vithImpact

A selection of recent projects that illustrate the combination of ideas, insight and rigour driving ICES research.



Makes Policy Better



Makes People Healthier



Makes Health Care Better Near-real-time data changed the way COVID-19 vaccines were allocated and reported on across Ontario

Background

y the time Ontario was experiencing the second wave of COVID-19 in September 2020, ICES scientists and staff were already making great strides in providing real-time data on COVID-19 testing and infection rates in long-term care and retirement homes to the provincial government, the COVID-19 Science Advisory Table and public health units. That work evolved into providing weekly reports to public health units on neighbourhood-level testing and COVID-19 test positivity rates for all Ontarians. The granular nature of the data, which was updated on the ICES COVID-19 dashboard on a weekly basis, allowed for the delivery of neighbourhoodlevel analytics that helped to inform the provincewide response to the pandemic and make residents aware of local transmission rates.



AREAS OF IMPACT:



Makes policy better



Makes people healthier



Makes health care better

ICES Research

In November 2020, ICES began to provide COVID-19 case and percent positivity rates by neighbourhood based on forward sortation areas (FSAs), which are geographical areas based on the first three characters in a postal code. These data were shared with public health units and posted on the ICES website, and helped public health units better target communities in their catchment areas for testing.

ICES' work with FSAs also had real-time impact on the way the government rolled out its vaccination strategy. When vaccination data became available at ICES near the end of March 2021, the first report showed how vaccine uptake varied across neighbourhoods with higher and lower levels of COVID-19 infection rates. Neighbourhoods with higher rates of infection had lower rates of vaccine uptake, and these data informed the strategy to increase vaccine supply to these hardest hit neighbourhoods and address this important inequity. Not only was the COVID-19 testing and positivity work informing policy on a near-daily basis, the data posted on the ICES COVID-19 dashboard were being leveraged by service providers, media and the public to support more transparent, efficient and equitable vaccination delivery.

ICES published downloadable aggregated data files reporting weekly FSA-level COVID-19 percent positivity rates and the cumulative incidence of COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, deaths and vaccinations; the files were downloaded 2,486 times as of August 26, 2021. The data were used by local and national media as well as by researchers and citizens, who were then able to create additional data visualizations and perform secondary analyses to raise public awareness.

How this work is having impact

- ICES scientists published 32 studies about COVID-19 in 2020/21.
- Through data partnerships at the provincial and national levels, ICES rapidly added near-real-time COVID-19-relevant data sets to its collection of linked health data.
- During 2020/21, 27 COVID-related Applied Health Research Questions (AHRQs) were answered by ICES scientists and staff.
- The ICES COVID-19 dashboard was visited 112, 095 times from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021.
- According to Homer Tien, head of Ontario's COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution Task Force, ICES' modelling of hotspots influenced the task force's planning and recommendations to Ontario government ministers and Canada's premiers.
- Dr. David Williams, Ontario's Chief Medical Officer of Health, used the weekly testing reports to monitor the province's reopening plans.

"ICES data have been central to a number of stories at The Local about the vaccine rollout across Toronto and Peel region. On April 6, The Local broke the story about how the vaccine rollout was missing Toronto's hardest-hit areas, all using ICES data just hours after they were released publicly. The ICES vaccination data set, updated weekly, was core to several stories in our Vaccinating Toronto series, including our Hot Spot Tracker. These stories were widely read by citizens to stay informed and by policy-makers and vaccine teams to target popup clinics in hard-hit and undervaccinated neighbourhoods,"

Tai Huynh, editor-in-chief, The Local

The impact of COVID-19 on Ontario's health care system

Background

he impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been felt worldwide, with hospitalization, death and the long-term effects of infection being its immediate and enduring consequences. The virus and subsequent efforts to stop its rapid spread have altered the way health care systems operate. Everyone, including patients, have been told to limit their activities outside their homes, and health systems have had to rapidly adapt their delivery of patient care to include a shift to virtual care and coping with delays in diagnostic screening, childhood immunization, and surgery. The pandemic's longterm impacts on the delivery of health care likely won't be fully realized for years to come.



AREAS OF IMPACT:



Makes policy better



Makes people healthier



Makes health care better

ICES Research

A March 2021 <u>study</u> led by ICES scientists Drs. Rick Glazier and Tara Kiran found an 80% decrease in primary care office visits in Ontario in the first four months of the pandemic; this was accompanied by a shift to virtual care visits that represented nearly two-thirds of all physician visits. While telemedicine had been available in rural and remote communities for several years before the start of the pandemic, a January 2021 ICES <u>study</u> led by Dr. Sacha Bhatia found there wasn't a significant uptake in its use until government-ordered lockdowns and travel restrictions highlighted its role. That study's findings provide some reassurance that groups with the greatest care needs, including older adults and those with higher levels of morbidity, continued to receive relatively high levels of care overall.

Patients weren't just avoiding doctors' offices during the first wave of the pandemic. Emergency department visits declined significantly for common conditions such as appendicitis, miscarriage, gallbladder attacks and ectopic pregnancy. But again, patient outcomes didn't worsen.

In Ontario hospitals, the reallocation of resources such as beds, ventilators and medical staff to manage the surge in COVID-19 admissions resulted in an immediate cancellation of 60% of cancer surgeries. A March 2021 <u>study</u> led by ICES scientists Drs. Antoine Eskander and Rinku Sutradhar showed a significant cancer surgery backlog, which the Ontario COVID-19 Science Advisory Table characterized as an <u>enormous challenge</u> for the post-pandemic recovery phase in the province.

How this work is having impact

- To date, ICES has conducted more than 40 studies on COVID's effect on medical conditions and service delivery.
- The Ontario Ministry of Health introduced temporary billing codes for physician visits conducted by telephone or video conferencing and is assessing their permanent adoption.
- In January 2021, the Ministry of Health introduced its <u>Digital First</u> <u>for Health</u> Strategy, which enables patients to access more virtual-care options.

- Dr. Eskander presented his ideas for using data to increase the efficiency of cancer care to the federal government's <u>Parliamentary Health</u> <u>Research</u> Caucus in May 2021.
- In July 2021, the Ontario government and the Ministry of Health announced <u>additional funding</u> to reduce wait times for diagnostic imaging and surgery.
- Cancer Care Ontario has used ICES data to inform its models on measuring the surgery backlog.
- "The value of ICES data isn't just the data. It's the expertise held within the organization by people who are used to working with the data, who meticulously, honestly and comprehensively answer some of the most pressing questions facing our health care system. This has been especially true during the COVID-19 pandemic. The research team that completed this work has had a long history of working with data and understands its strengths and weaknesses. The data alone is not powerful; it's the team that brings it to life and allows us to tell the real story,"

Dr. Antoine Eskander, ICES adjunct scientist and surgical oncologist

Immigrants and refugees have been disproportionately affected by COVID-19 in Ontario

Background

Disadvantaged communities face disproportionate risks of becoming infected with COVID-19, suggesting inequities in the burden of the virus. Recent immigrants and refugees, many of whom have low income and are more likely to live in overcrowded housing or multigenerational households, are at increased risk of infection, this despite <u>research</u> that shows Ontario newcomers are healthier than long-term and Canadian-born residents. Recent immigrants and refugees are also more likely to be employed in settings that put them at greater risk of infection, such as hospitals or nursing homes, or that don't offer sick leave, such as hotels and restaurants. Lower language proficiency may also make it more difficult for them to follow public health directives that are important in reducing the risk of COVID-19 infection.

Immigrants and refugees have higher case rates, lower rates of COVIDtesting and a higher percentage of positive COVID-19 tests than other Ontarians. And while the province's COVID-19 vaccination strategy has prioritized some highrisk communities, immigrants and refugees still have much lower rates of vaccine coverage. An enhanced effort focused on reducing barriers to vaccination and directing vaccines to the highest-risk communities is needed to ensure vaccine equity for immigrant and refugee communities in Ontario.



ICES | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

AREAS OF IMPACT:



Makes policy better



Makes people healthier



Makes health care better

ICES Research

In September 2020, a team of ICES investigators led by Dr. Astrid Guttmann released a <u>report</u> comparing patterns of COVID-19 testing and test results among immigrants and refugees in Ontario with those of Canadian-born and long-term residents. The study found that of all Canadian-born and long-term residents tested for COVID-19 between mid-January and mid-June 2020, 2.9% tested positive. Of the people tested who identified as immigrants or refugees, 8.1% received a positive diagnosis. The report highlighted the toll the virus was taking on those living in low-income neighbourhoods and on immigrant, racialized women, particularly those employed as health care and personal support workers. The report was presented widely, including to all Ontario medical officers of health and to Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada.

Individual reports using data through to November 2020 were produced by the ICES team for the three public health units in Ontario serving the largest immigrant populations. The team also co-wrote a <u>briefing note</u> with Toronto Public Health for community partners, including those providing settlement services.

A <u>follow-up report</u> released by ICES in April 2021 compared vaccine coverage among immigrants, refugees, other newcomers and Canadian-born and long-term residents in Ontario. The study showed that immigrants and refugees, particularly the elderly among them, were less likely to be vaccinated for COVID-19. Detailed reports have been produced regularly for the three public health units in Ontario serving large immigrant populations and have helped to inform their local vaccination strategy.

How this work is having impact

- These findings have helped to inform targeted public health efforts to minimize COVID-19 infection among immigrants and refugees, including the provision of mobile testing units in at-risk communities.
- Lorna Jantzen, assistant director for Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) said the partnership with ICES helped the Government of Canada leverage IRCC data to bring out important results that would not otherwise have been possible and to fill key information gaps that benefit all Canadians, by allowing other provinces to learn from the experience of Ontario.
- In April 2021, the Toronto-based Wellesley Institute released a paper quantifying inequities in vaccination across Ontario, using data downloaded from ICES' COVID-19 dashboard.
- ICES data, including more granular information on specific groups of immigrants, has informed local strategies to address low vaccination rates among older immigrants and refugees who are at high risk of severe disease and provided continued surveillance on progress.
- The vaccine report was presented by Dr. Guttmann to IRCC, and the Privy Council of Canada has been using ICES dashboard data for federal presentations and briefings.

"The findings should be a call to action to address systemic inequities by allowing people to leave work to be tested, protecting people in their workplaces, providing paid sick leave so people who are precariously employed don't lose income in order to protect themselves and their families while ill, and supporting those who can't safely quarantine within their own crowded households."

Dr. Astrid Guttmann, Chief Science Officer, ICES

How a data-driven approach helped protect people experiencing homelessness in Ontario

Background

ne in 20 Canadians has experienced homelessness at some point in their life. This is concerning as unhoused or insecurely housed people are particularly vulnerable to health concerns, including infection and illness from the COVID-19 virus. They often reside in crowded living spaces that make physical distancing or self-isolation difficult or impossible.

Homelessness is associated with high rates of chronic health conditions and relative difficulty accessing health care, and it was thought that this population would have poorer outcomes after being infected with COVID-19. However, our understanding of this is limited because of the unique challenges of measuring and conducting research on homelessness.



AREAS OF IMPACT:



Makes policy better



Makes people healthier



Makes health care better

ICES Research

An ICES Western team led by Lucie Richard and <u>Dr. Salimah</u> <u>Shariff</u> conducted a <u>study</u> that assessed the impact of COVID-19 infection on individuals with a history of homelessness in Ontario. Using an <u>algorithm</u> that leverages administrative health data available at ICES, the team identified nearly 30,000 recently unhoused individuals. The team followed this group during the first wave of the pandemic in 2020 to determine how many individuals tested positive for COVID-19 and experienced complications from infection, which included hospitalization, intensive care unit admission and death.

In comparison to the community-dwelling Ontario population, individuals with a recent history of homelessness were 76% more likely to test positive for COVID-19. They were 20 times as likely to be hospitalized, more than 10 times as likely to require intensive care, and more than 5 times as likely to die within 21 days of a positive test.

This study confirms the vulnerability of people experiencing homelessness during public health crises and provides evidence to support new policies aimed at better protecting them. Given the large number of Canadians who experience homelessness during their lifetime, this work is pivotal to Canada's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the challenge of protecting this population from the virus.

"Everyone knew people experiencing homelessness would be more vulnerable to COVID-19 when the pandemic began. Hard data measuring this is very hard to come by, but vital. Communicating the fact that this group is five, ten, twenty times more at risk is far more compelling than just saying they are likely, probably at higher risk. Data like this acts as a catalyst for social change."

Naheed Dosani, palliative care and family physician at William Osler Health System and Inner City Health Associates

How this work is having impact

- Advocates <u>highlighted</u> this study as evidence of the need for additional measures to protect individuals experiencing homelessness during the pandemic, such as sheltering in motels or other private accommodations and granting priority vaccination status.
- In February 2021, Dr. Naheed Dosani brought the study to the attention of Prime Minister Justin Trudeau during a <u>virtual roundtable</u>, advocating for additional measures to protect this vulnerable population.
- Citing this study's findings, the City of Toronto modified its
 vaccination plan in February 2021 to prioritize individuals with a recent history of homelessness. Other jurisdictions across the province quickly followed suit.

- The research team is now conducting a related study examining the indirect consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as change in rate of overdoses and other health care utilization, on individuals experiencing homelessness.
- The research team's future work in this area will include assessing the extent of vaccine uptake in this population and determining the efficacy of vaccination on infection and complications.

Financial Report

Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2021 (in thousands of dollars)

ASSETS	2021	2020
Current Assets	\$	\$
Cash	10,562	9,035
Restricted cash	-	1,686
Accounts receivable	3,534	3,424
Prepaid expenses	1,611	763
	15,707	14,908
Restricted long-term investments	2,289	2,234
Capital assets	1,250	1,051
	19,246	18,193
LIABILITIES		
Current Liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	3,553	2,433
Due to Ministry of Health	-	351
Deposit in trust	3	1,686
Deferred operating grants	5,001	8,073
Due to Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre	347	323
Deferred lease liability	-	62
	8,904	12,928
Deposit in trust	2,414	2,237
Post-employment benefits	964	829
Deferred capital grants	1,250	1,051
	13,532	17,045
General fund	5,714	1,148
	19,246	18,193

Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances

For the year ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands of dollars)

REVENUE	2021	2020
	\$	\$
Grants – Ministry of Health	14,433	10,765
Grants and other revenue	18,797	15,808
Amortization of deferred capital grant	526	469
Interest income	35	62
	33,791	27,104
EXPENDITURES		
Employee costs	23,346	22,325
Contracted services	43	287
Information, technology and cybersecurity	2,311	1,622
Office and general	688	883
Amortization of tangible capital assets	526	469
Professional fees	1,249	421
Premises	1,001	1,086
	29,164	27,093
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year	4,627	11
General fund - beginning of year	1,148	781
Remeasurement of post-employment benefits	(61)	356
General fund – end of year	5,714	1,148

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands of dollars)

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)	2021	2020
OPERATING ACTIVITIES	\$	\$
Excess of revenues over expenditures	4,627	11
for the year		
Items not affecting cash		
Post-employment benefits other	74	132
than pensions		
Amortization of deferred capital grant	(526)	(469)
Amortization of tangible capital assets	526	469
Deferred lease inducement	(62)	(62)
Interest income reinvested	(55)	(54)
Changes in non-cash working capital	(4,743)	1,918
	(159)	1,945
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Purchase of tangible capital assets	(725)	(231)
Reduction (increase) in restricted cash	1,686	(388)
	961	(619)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Contribution to deferred capital grants	725	231
Increase in cash during the year	1,527	1,557
Cash – beginning of year	9,035	7,478
Cash – end of year	10,562	9,035



ices.on.ca